
 
 

CREDIT UNION COMMISSION 
 

Rules Committee Meeting 
 

Credit Union Department Building 
914 East Anderson Lane 

Austin Texas 78752 
 

Thursday, July 17, 2025 
9:00 a.m. 

 
* * * AGENDA * * * 

 
This meeting of the Texas Credit Union Commission’s Rules Committee will be held at the Credit 
Union Department Building at 914 E. Anderson Ln., Austin, Texas 78752 and is open to the public.  
Only onsite testimony will be allowed; however, the meeting will be transmitted live through a link 
on the Department’s webpage at www.cud.texas.gov on the day of the meeting, July 17, 2025, at 
9:00 a.m. 
 
An electronic copy of the agenda is now available at www.cud.texas.gov under Credit Union 
Commission, Commission Meetings, along with a copy of the meeting materials. A recording of the 
meeting will be available after July 17, 2025.  To obtain a recording, please contact Joel Arevalo at 
512-837-9236. 
 
Public comment on any agenda item or issue under the jurisdiction of the Credit Union Commission 
Rules Committee is allowed.  Unless authorized by a majority vote of the meeting quorum, the comments of 
any person wishing to address the Committee will be limited to no more than ten (10) minutes. 
 
The Committee may discuss and/or take action regarding any item on this agenda. 
 
TAB        PAGE 
 
A. Call to Order (9:00 a.m.) – Vice Chair, David Shurtz         4  
 

(1) Ascertain Quorum 
(2) Appoint Recording Secretary 
(3) Invitation for Public Input 
(4) Acknowledge Guests 

 
B. Approve Minutes of the March 20, 2025, Rules Committee Meeting       6 
 

http://www.cud.texas.gov/
http://www.cud.texas.gov/


Rules Committee Meeting Agenda 
July 17, 2025 
Page 2 
 
 

TAB            PAGE 
 
C. Rulemaking Matters – Consider Recommendation for Publication in Texas Register 
 

(1) Adoption, in Part, of Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 97,     17  
       Subchapter B, Section 97.113 (Fees and Charges) 
 
 (2) Adoption of Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91,      39 
       Subchapter A, Section 91.101 (Definitions and Interpretations) 
 
 (3) Adoption of the Rule Review of 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A      49 

(General Provisions), Subchapter B (Organization Procedures), Subchapter J 
(Changes in Corporate Status), and Subchapter L (Submission of Comments 
by Interested Parties), and Readoption of Rules 

 
 (4) Recommendation for Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91,      83 

Subchapter A, Section 91.125 (General Rules) 
 

(5) Recommendation for Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91,      87 
Subchapter J, Section 91.1003 (Mergers/Consolidations) 
 

 
Adjournment 
 
 
Note: This is a meeting of the Rules Committee (Committee) of the Texas Credit Union 
Commission (Commission); however, there may be other members of the Commission attending 
this meeting. Since there might be a quorum of the Commission, it is being posted as a meeting 
of the entire Commission. 
 
Executive Session: The Committee may go into executive session (close its meeting to the 
public) on any agenda item if appropriate and authorized by the Open Meetings Act, Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 551. 
 
Meeting Recess: In the event the Committee does not finish deliberation of an item on the first 
day for which it was posted, the Committee might recess the meeting until the following day at 
the time and place announced at the time of recess. 
 
Meeting Accessibility: Under the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Texas Credit Union 
Commission will accommodate special needs. Those requesting auxiliary aids or services should 
notify Joel Arevalo, Credit Union Department, 914 East Anderson Lane, Austin, Texas 78752, 
(512) 837-9236, as far in advance of the meeting as possible. 



A.



A. CALL TO ORDER

TEXAS CREDIT UNION COMMISSION

RULES COMMITTEE MEETING

Committee Members 

• David Shurtz, Vice Chair

• Becky Ames

• Jim Minge, Ex-Officio

Legal Counsel 

• Karen L. Miller

Credit Union Department Staff 

• Michael S. Riepen

• Robert W. Etheridge

• Joel Arevalo

• Brenda Medina

• Isabel Velasquez



B. 



B. APPROVE MINUTES OF THE MARCH 20, 2025, 
RULES COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
 

A draft copy of the minutes from the March 20, 2025 Committee meeting is 
located under TAB B. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee 
approve the minutes as presented. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move that the minutes of the Committee’s 
March 20, 2025 meeting be approved as presented. 



CREDIT UNION COMMISSION RULES COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 

Credit Union Department Building 
914 East Anderson Lane, Austin, Texas 

MARCH 20, 2025 

A. CALL TO ORDER – Chair Liz Bayless called the meeting to order at

10:02 a.m. in the conference room of the Credit Union Department Building,

Austin, Texas, pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Government Code, and declared that

a quorum was present.  Another member present included David Shurtz. Becky

Ames was absent due to a scheduling conflict. Ex-Officio Jim Minge was in

attendance via videoconference. Staff members in attendance were Michael S.

Riepen, Commissioner, Robert W. Etheridge, Deputy Commissioner, Karen

Miller, General Counsel who will serve as legal counsel for the Committee at this

meeting, Joel Arevalo, Director of Information and Technology and Brenda

Medina, Executive Assistant.  Chair Bayless appointed Isabel Velasquez as

recording secretary. The Chair inquired and the Commissioner confirmed that the

notice of the meeting was properly posted with the Secretary of State (March 7,

2025, TRD#2025001360).

 INVITATION FOR PUBLIC INPUT FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION

– Chair Bayless invited public input on matters regarding rulemaking for future

consideration by the committee.  There was none.

B. RECEIVE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (July 18, 2024)

Mr. Shurtz moved to approve the minutes of July 18, 2024, as presented.

Mrs. Bayless seconded the motion, and the motion was unanimously adopted. 



 
C. RULEMAKING MATTERS 
 

 (a) Discussion, Consideration and Possible Vote to Recommend the 

Commission Take Action on the Completed Rule Review of 7 TAC, Part 6, 

Chapter 97, Subchapter A (General Provisions), Subchapter B (Fees), 

Subchapter C (Department Operations), Subchapter D (Gifts and Bequests), 

Subchapter E (Advisory Committees), and Subchapter F (Rulemaking) and 

Re-adoption of Rules.  Commissioner Riepen explained that Section 2001.039, 

Government Code, requires that a state agency review and consider for readoption 

each rule not later than the fourth anniversary of the date on which the rule took 

effect and every four years after that date. As provided in the noted section, the 

reviews must include, at a minimum, an assessment by the agency as to whether 

the reason for adopting the rules continues to exist. Staff have reviewed 7 TAC, 

Part 6, Chapter 97, Subchapters A through F and believe certain revisions are 

appropriate and necessary. Amendments to the noted Subchapter B (Fees) are 

being separately presented for proposal.  Notice of the review and a request for 

comments on the rules in this chapter was published in the February 28, 2025, 

issue of the Texas Register. No comments were received regarding the review. 
 

 As a result of the rule review, the Committee finds that the reasons for 

initially adopting the Rules in 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 97, Subchapters A 

through F continue to exist, and readopting these subchapters in accordance with 

the requirements of the Texas Government Code, Section 2001.039. 

 

 After a short discussion among the committee members, Mr. Shurtz made a 

motion to recommend that the Commission find the reasons for adopting the 

completed rule review of 7 TAC, Part 6, Subchapters A (General Provisions), 

Subchapter B (Fees), Subchapter C (Department Operations), Subchapter D 

(Gifts and Bequests), Subchapter E (Advisory Committees), and Subchapter F 

(Rulemaking) continue to exist and that the Commission readopt the rules in this 



 
chapter. Mrs. Bayless seconded the motion, and the motion was unanimously 

adopted. 

 
 (b) Discussion, Consideration and Possible Vote to Recommend that 

the Commission Take Action on the Proposal and Publication for Comment 

on Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 97, Subchapter A, Section 97.107 

Concerning Related Entities.  General Counsel Karen Miller informed the 

Committee that it had been determined that no action is needed on this item. 
 

 (c) Discussion, Consideration and Possible Vote to Recommend that 

the Commission Take Action on the Proposal and Publication for Comment 

on Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 97, Subchapter B, Section 97.113 

Concerning Fees and Charges.  Commissioner Riepen redirected this item of the 

agenda to General Counsel Karen Miller. Ms. Miller reported that the proposed 

amendments to Section 97.113 would better organize the fees section, allow 

adjustments based on the budget for both semiannual assessments instead of only 

the second assessment and add the ability to recover direct contractual obligations 

related to expenditures paid to third parties. Lastly, we are requesting a rule to 

charge user-based fees, subject to Commission approval.  Ms. Miller explained the 

different sections of the fees outlined in the rule are grouped together in the 

amendments such as operating fees, foreign credit unions, contract services and 

user fee.  Furthermore, the rule change would allow an additional tool during the 

annual budgeting process should the Department anticipate expenditures in excess 

of normal operating fee assessments. Fees could be considered as an alternative to 

an operating fee increase to be paid by all credit unions.  And lastly, any proposed 

user fees would require official Commission approval, prior notice and review at 

least every two years. 

• David Shurtz, committee member, went through a list of suggested edits to 

the proposed rule changes.  These were discussed and some adopted. 

 



 
 Chair Bayless opened the floor to the public for discussion. 
 

 Melodie Durst, Executive Director, Credit Union Coalition of Texas, 

offered her appreciation for the opportunity to ask a couple of questions and 

offer some feedback.  Mrs. Durst thanked Commissioner Riepen, Karen and 

Robert for sitting down a few weeks ago and going over some ideas that 

they had at that time.  Mrs. Durst reported that in speaking to their 

membership of the ideas that were originally proposed there was some 

strong conversation about those proposals, particularly when it comes to user 

fees.  Mrs. Durst referred to the meeting packet saying that she now realizes 

that the Department is not recommending any fees at this time. However, it 

appears to be an item for potential conversation.  When it comes to 

complaints specifically, there were a few conversations about the increase in 

the number of complaints.  The question to Mrs. Durst was raised about 

whether her suggestion was to consider striking the user fee provision, and if 

so, what were her suggestions or recommendations? Mrs. Durst responded to 

postponing it and have a conversation about it.  She did not feel there’s 

sufficient information here to really explain what the user fees are for and 

whether charging for complaints was a resolution.  Mrs. Durst reminded us 

that the Governor is asking state agencies to take a closer look at what 

they’re spending, their fees, burdens on the businesses that they regulate, etc. 

A few things to think about as you go through this process and look at the 

proposals again, the commission might consider exploring cost reductions 

before implementing new fees. 
 

 Jim Minge, Commission Chairman, made one comment back to Mrs. 

Durst’s comments that hit a nerve with him.  Mr. Minge stated that he has 

been a credit union person for a long time, and he had never talked to 

anybody in Texas who thought that we had not been conservative with our 

spending, and Texas credit unions pay 100% of the fees that operate this 



 
Department. Mr. Minge believes we have been very conservative in how we 

fund the operations of this Department, and we do not have waste in 

Department. He believes the Department is extremely lean, if anything 

maybe too lean and we’ve run that way forever. It is appreciated that the 

Department does that because it’s our members’ money that funds this 

Department. 
 

 Melodie Durst, Executive Director, Credit Union Coalition of Texas, 

apologized to Chair Minge if her comments were not delivered as plainly as 

she could have delivered them.  She understands that credit unions pay 

100% of the fees that operate this Department, and the Department has 

operated very lean over many years of involvement.  But the reality is that 

sometimes we just need to take another look at things.  Perhaps we need to 

add staff in the complaint division. Technology is important and we 

wholeheartedly support adequate funding of this Department, we always 

have. 

 

After a lengthy discussion, the Chair called a recess from 11:48 a.m. to 

12:05 p.m., to allow staff time to make recommended changes to the rule for the 

Commission to approve for publication and comment in the Texas Register.   

 

 Mr. Shurtz moved that the Committee recommend that the Commission 

approve for publication and comment on the proposed amendments to 7 TAC, Part 

6, Chapter 97, Subchapter B, Section 97.113 concerning Fees and Charges. Mrs. 

Bayless seconded the motion, and the motion was unanimously adopted. 

 

 (d) Discussion, Consideration and Possible Vote to Recommend that 

the Commission Take Action on the Proposal and Publication for Comment 

on Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A, Section 91.101 

Concerning Definitions and Interpretations.  Commissioner Riepen reported 



 
that this amendment replaces the phrase “political jurisdiction” with “political 

subdivision”.  It also adds a definition for political subdivision.  This is necessary 

to avoid confusion about unifying characteristics and provide consistency with 

other provisions in the rules referencing “political subdivision”. 

 

 After a short discussion, Mr. Shurtz moved that the Committee recommend 

that the Commission approve for publication and comment on the proposed 

amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A, Section 91.101 

concerning Definitions and Interpretations.  Mrs. Bayless seconded the motion, 

and the motion was unanimously adopted. 

 

ADJOURNMENT -- There being no other items to come before the Committee, 

and without objection, the meeting was adjourned at 12:17 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _____________________________ 
David F. Shurtz     Isabel Velasquez 
Chairman      Recording Secretary 
 
 
Distribution: Legislative Reference Library 



C. 



C. RULEMAKING MATTERS 
 
 
The Committee will discuss and possibly vote on potential recommendations to the 
Credit Union Commission concerning the following items: 

 
(1) Adoption, in Part, of Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 97, 

Subchapter B, Section 97.113 (Fees and Charges) 
 

(2) Adoption of Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter 
A, Section 91.101 (Definitions and Interpretations) 

 
(3)  Adoption of the Rule Review of 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A 

(General Provisions), Subchapter B (Organization Procedures), Subchapter J 
(Changes in Corporate Status), and Subchapter L (Submission of Comments 
by Interested Parties), and Readoption of Rules 

 
(4)  Recommendation for Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, 

Subchapter A, Section 91.125 (General Rules) 
 
(5) Recommendation for Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, 

Subchapter J, Section 91.1003 (Mergers/Consolidations) 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee take 
action as indicated on the documents contained on Tab C. 
 
  



PROCEDURES FOR ADOPTING A PROPOSED RULE 
 
 

1. A proposed rule is prepared by Credit Union Department staff and presented to 
legal counsel (Attorney General) for review. 

 
2. The proposed rule is presented to the Commission for consideration. 
 
3. The Commission reviews, amends, adopts, refers back to staff, or tables the 

proposed rule. 
 
4. The proposed rule is adjusted by staff (if required), furnished to legal counsel, 

and transmitted to the Texas Register for publication as a "proposed" rule. 
 
5. A 30-day comment period follows initial publication which also is made in the 

Department's monthly newsletter or by a special mailing to credit unions. 
 
6. The Commission may reconsider the rule any time after the 30-day comment 

period. Any comments received are considered and the rule is available for 
adoption as "final" if no substantive changes are made.  Any substantive change 
will result in the rule reverting to step four. 

 
7. The rule is adopted as "final" and transmitted to the Texas Register for 

publication as a final rule. The rule becomes effective 20 days following filing 
for publication. 

 
8. The rule is published or announced through the Department's newsletter. 

 
 

EMERGENCY RULES 
 

Rules, which are approved by the Commission for emergency adoption, are 
transmitted to the Texas Register for filing.  These rules become effective 
immediately upon filing unless another effective date is specified.  They can be 
effective only for 120 days with a renewal provision for an additional 60 days a 
maximum of 180 days. "Day one" is the day of filing or the date specified as the 
effective date. While these emergency rules are in effect, regular rules should be 
initiated using the normal procedure described above.  The Department rarely adopts 
emergency rules. 



PROCEDURES FOR REQUIRED RULE REVIEW 
 
 

Section 2001.39, Government Code, requires that a state agency review and 
consider for re-adoption each rule not later than the fourth anniversary of the date 
on which the rule took effect and every four years after that date. To comply with 
this requirement, the Commission follows the procedure below:  

 
1. Every four years, the Commission and the adopts and publishes a Rule Review 

Plan, which establishes a date for the required review of each existing rule. 
2. At least sixty days prior to a particular rule’s scheduled review date, the 

Department publishes notice in the Newsletter reminding interested persons of 
the review and encouraging comments on the rules up for review. 

3. Staff reviews each rule to determine whether it is obsolete, whether the rule 
reflects current legal and policy considerations, and whether the rule’s structure 
as well as the specific language used is both clear and understandable. 

4. If in reviewing existing rules, staff believes certain amendments may be 
appropriate, proposed amendments are prepared by staff and presented to the 
Rules Committee for review. 

5. At a public meeting, the Rules Committee accepts public testimony on each rule 
subject to review and considers staff recommended changes. The Committee 
reviews each rule and then amends the staff proposal and refers it to the 
Commission and refers the proposal back to staff, or refers the proposal, as 
recommended by staff, to the Commission. 

6. The Committee’s recommendation is presented to the Commission for 
consideration. 

7. The Commission reviews, amends, approves the proposal for publications, 
refers it back to the Committee, or tables the proposed amendment. 

8. If the Commission approves the proposal for publication, it is transmitted to the 
Texas Register for publication as a "proposed" rule amendment.  

9. A 30-day comment period follows initial publication which also is announced in 
the Department's monthly newsletter. 

10. The Commission may reconsider the rule any time after the 30-day comment 
period.  Any comments received are considered and the rule is available for 
adoption as "final" if no substantive changes are made.  Any substantive change 
will result in re-publication of the proposal. 

11. The rule as amended is adopted and transmitted to the Texas Register for 
publication as a final rule.  The rule becomes effective 20 days following filing 
for publication.   

12. The amended rule is announced through the Department's newsletter and copies 
are made available to credit unions. 



FEES AND CHARGES 

C. (1) Adoption, in Part, of Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter
 97, Subchapter B, Section 97.113 (Fees and Charges) 

BACKGROUND: The Credit Union Commission (Commission) approved for 
publication amendments to §97.113, Fees and Charges, at the meeting on March 21, 
2025, and they were published in the April 4, 2025, issue of the Texas Register (50 
Tex. Reg. 2293 and 50 Tex. Reg. 2296). 

COMMENTS RECEIVED AND DEPARTMENT RESPONSES:  

Four written comments were received and are grouped below according to topic: 

Organize the fees so rules related to the specific type of fee are grouped 
together.  

Two comments were received supporting reorganizing the rule. There were no 
comments received in opposition to these amendments.  

Increase supplemental examination fees from $50.00 hourly to $100.00 hourly. 

One comment opposed the increase in the fees specifically noting they felt the 
increase to be arbitrary.  Three other comments submitted did not address the fee 
increase.  

In support of the amount, the Department reviewed similar authority provided to the 
Texas Department of Banking, allowing for specialty examination fees as outlined 
in 7 Tex. Admin Code §3.36 (h) (2). Their rule allows for a rate not to exceed 
$110.00 per examiner hour and any actual travel expense incurred. The current 
proposal is less than this amount and also includes any travel expense. This proposed 
fee continues to be less than comparative fees.  

For additional support, the Department calculates the average hourly costs of field 
staff and travel to be approximately $80, not accounting for any overhead of 
administration. More expensive and specialized field staff would be utilized in 
specialized examinations, making the proposed rate reasonable. The last increase in 
the maximum hourly fee to be charged by the department in special examinations 
was in March of 2009, or over 16 years ago.  



 
The proposed and current rule provides that the Commissioner “may waive the 
supplemental fee or reduce the fee, individually or collectively, as he deems 
appropriate.” This would be available should the fee be an undue financial burden 
on a credit union, addressing the commentator’s additional concern.  
 

 
Increase the foreign branch fee from $500.00 to $1,000.00; the field of 
membership expansion fee for a foreign credit union from $200 to $1,000.00 for 
each application; and from $50 to $100 per hour expended by an examiner for 
an examination, if scheduled by the commissioner.  
 
One comment opposed and three other comments submitted did not address the fee 
increase.  
 
One commentator objected to the proposal stating that the change required an 
evidence based justification for the increase.  We disagree.   
 
Our rules allow for credit unions chartered by other state regulators to operate in 
Texas. These credit unions do not pay operating fees. We maintain contact 
information on these institutions, assure there is appropriate insurance coverage and 
maintain branch listings. We receive, monitor and forward complaints to their state 
regulator. We also may be requested to process requests for expansions of fields of 
membership. As a comparison, the operating fee for a state chartered credit union 
with assets of only $1 million dollars is $1,500, which is more than the proposed 
branch fee for a foreign credit union, regardless of asset size.    
 
Eleven foreign credit unions operating in Texas have an average asset size of $3.5 
billion. This fee increase is rather nominal for a foreign credit union and is 
reasonable in light of the work  to maintain the records and statutorily required 
annual information in our systems. The current amount of $100 requires other state 
credit unios to subsidize the cost of maintaining records or a foreign credit union to 
operate in this state. 
 
The change to the hourly rate for a review is  consistent with the change 
recommended for Texas state chartered credit unions.  
  
 

Allow the department to recover legal and SOAH costs from credit unions who 
cause the cost to be incurred.  
 
One comment supported the proposed amendment; one comment was in opposition 
and one comment suggested more clarity.  



A rule change was proposed to allow for, not require, recovery of legal and hearings 
costs related to actions taken by regulated credit unions. Specifically, this addressed 
a recent instance where the Department was charged over $36,000 by the state office 
of administrative hearings (SOAH) to hear an appeal. Multiple resolution attempts 
were unsuccessful. All of these expenses were solely paid by the Credit Union 
Department, and none paid by the appealing credit union. With an annual budget of 
$5 to $6 million, the impact of these costs are material. The rule was proposed to 
assure that threatened legal actions would not be used as a way for a credit union to 
mitigate or avoid regulation. It also would put the burden on the Credit Union 
directly causing the cost and would continue to allow the commissioner the ability 
to waive the fee at their discretion. 
   
Three comments were received regarding this rule. One was in strong support, one 
was in opposition, and one expressed concerns which could be addressed by 
amendment.   
 
We anticipate that our budgeting and reserve rules will be modified to allow these 
costs to be charged against reserves and not the current budget. In light of this 
modification, this amendment is withdrawn until later review. 
 

 
Allow the commissioner to proposed future administrative fees to recover costs 
with notice to credit unions and approval by the commission at least every two 
years.  
 
Four comments were received in opposition to this rule addition.  
 
A new addition to the rule was proposed to provide the opportunity for the 
Commissioner to submit an administrative fees schedule for Commission 
approval.  Four comments were received in opposition to this rule. In response to the 
objections, we are recommending the proposed rule is withdrawn.  
 
The written comments, published amendment(s) and proposed preamble 
are attached.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee 
recommend the Commission approve and adopt:  
 

• Amendments to 7 Tex. Admin Code § 97.113 as proposed, but withdrawing 
the following:  

• Changes to (e) are withdrawn.  
• Proposed addition of (f) is withdrawn.  

 



RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move that the Committee recommend that the 
Commission take action to order adoption of amendments to Rule § 91.101 and 
adoption, in part, of the amendments to Rule 7 TAC Section 97.113 as previously 
published in the Texas Register revised to remove the changes to subpart (e) and 
remove addition of subpart (f) as a response to public comment.  



The Credit Union Commission (Commission) adopts amendments to §97.113, concerning fees 
and charges, with changes to the text published in the April 4, 2025, issue of the Texas Register  
 
The amendments are adopted as a result of the Department's general rule review.  
 
The Commission received four written comments from Tim Miller with Cooperative Teachers 
Credit Union, Melodie Durst with Credit Union Coalition of Texas, Gevon Calix with First 
Service and Suzanne Yashewski with Cornerstone League both in support of or in opposition 
with respect to selected portions of proposed amendments as detailed below.  In response to the 
comments the proposed amendment is withdrawn, in part. 
 
Organizing the rule to keep subparts addressing a specific type of fee grouped together. 
 
Two comments were received supporting reorganizing the rule.  There were no comments 
received in opposition to these amendments. 
 
Increases supplemental examination fees from $50.00 hourly to $100.00 hourly. 
 
One comment opposed the increase in the fees specifically noting they felt the increase to be 
arbitrary. Three other comments submitted did not address the fee increase. 
 
In support of the amount, the Department reviewed similar authority provided to the Texas 
Department of Banking, allowing for specialty examination fees as outlined in 7 Tex. Admin 
Code §3.36 (h)(2). Their rule allows for a rate not to exceed $110.00 per examiner hour and any 
actual travel expense incurred.  The current proposal is less than this amount and will include 
any travel expenses. This proposed fee continues to be less than comparative fees. 
 
For additional support, the Department calculates the average hourly costs of field staff and travel 
to be approximately $80, not accounting for the overhead of administration. More expensive and 
specialized staff would be utilized in specialized examinations, making the proposed rate 
reasonable.  The last increase in the maximum hourly fee to be charged by the department in special 
examinations was in March of 2009, or over 16 years ago. 
 
The proposed and current rule provides that the Commissioner “may waive the supplemental fee 
or reduce the fee, individually or collectively, as he deems appropriate.”  This would be available 
should the fee be an undue financial burden on a credit union, addressing the commentator’s 
additional concern. 
 
The Commission therefore adopts this portion of the amendment. 
 
Increases the foreign branch fee from $500.00 to $1,000.00; the field of membership expansion 
fee for a foreign credit union from $200 to $1,000.00 for each application; and from $50 to $100 
per hour expended by an examiner for an examination, if scheduled by the commissioner. 
 
One comment opposed the increase in the fees specifically noting they felt the increase to be 
arbitrary. Three other comments submitted did not address the fee increase. 



Our rules allow for credit unions chartered by other state regulators to operate in Texas. These 
credit unions do not pay operating fees.  We maintain contact information on these institutions, 
assure there is appropriate insurance coverage and maintain branch listings. We receive, monitor 
and forward complaints to their state regulator.  We also may be requested to process requests 
for expansions of fields of membership. As a comparison, the operating fee for a state chartered 
credit union with assets of $1 million dollars ($1,500) is the more than the proposed branch fee 
for a foreign credit union, regardless of asset size. 
 
Eleven foreign credit unions operating in Texas have an average asset size of $3.5 billion.  The 
department believes this fee is rather nominal for a foreign credit union and is reasonable in light 
of the work to maintain the records and statutorily required annual information in our systems. 
 
The change to the hourly rate for a review is consistent with the change recommended for Texas 
state chartered credit unions. The Commission, therefore, adopts this portion of amendment. 
 
Allows the department to recover legal and SOAH costs from credit unions who cause the cost to 
be incurred. 
 
One comment supported the proposed amendment; one comment was in opposition and one 
comment suggested more clarity. 
 
This part of the rule change was proposed to allow for, not require, recovery of legal and 
hearings costs related to actions taken by regulated credit unions.  Specifically, this was to 
address a recent instance where the Department was charged over $36,000 by the state office of 
administrative hearings (SOAH) related to an appeal of a modified approval of a field of 
membership expansion application.  Multiple informal resolution attempts were unsuccessful. 
 
All of these expenses were solely paid by the Credit Union Department, and none paid by the 
appealing credit union. With an annual budget of $5 to $6 million, the impact of these costs can 
become material. The rule was proposed to ensure that threatened legal actions would not be 
used as a tool for a credit union to mitigate or avoid regulation.  It also would put the burden on 
the Credit Union directly causing the cost, particularly that of an independent third party, such as 
SOAH, and would continue to allow the commissioner the ability not to assess the fee  
 
In response to the concerns from the comments, this part of the amendment is withdrawn to 
undergo further review. 
 
Allows for the commissioner to propose future administrative fees to recover costs with notice to 
credit unions and approval by the commission at least every two years. 
 
Four comments were received in opposition to this part of the rule. In response to the opposition, 
this part of amendment is withdrawn. 
 
Withdrawal of a part of the proposed amendments in response to objection will not materially 
impact the substance of the rule with the other proposed amendments. 
 



The amendments are adopted under Texas Finance Code, §15.402, which directs the 
Commission to establish by rule reasonable and necessary fees for the administration of Title 2, 
Chapter 15 and Subtitle D, Title 3 of the Finance Code.  
 
The specific section affected by the amended rule is Texas Finance Code, §15.402.  
 
§97.113. Fees and Charges. 
 
(a) Operating Fee. 
 (1) Each credit union authorized to do business under the Act shall remit to the 
department an annual operating fee.  The fee shall be paid in semi-annual installments, billed 
effective September 1 and March 1 of each year.  Either installment may be adjusted as provided 
by paragraph (6) of this subsection. 
 (2) Credit unions that exit the Texas credit union system on or before August 31 or February 
28 of a given year, will not be subject to the semi-annual assessment for the period beginning 
September 1 or March 1, respectively. Only those credit unions leaving the state credit union system 
prior to the close of business on those dates avoid paying the semi-annual assessment for the period 
beginning September 1 or March 1, as applicable. 

(3) Calculation of operating fees.  The schedule provided in this section shall serve as the 
basis for calculating operating fees. The base date shall be June 30 of the year in which operating 
fees are calculated.  The asset base may be reduced by the amount of reverse-repurchase 
balances extant on the June 30 base date. 
 
For Credit Unions with Total Assets Of:    The Operating Fee is: 
 
Less than $200,000      $200 
 
$200,000 but less than $1M $200 plus .001625 of excess over 

$200,000 
 
$1M but less than $10M $1,500 plus .00034 of excess over $1M 
 
$10M but less than $25M $4,560 plus .00014 of excess over 

$10M 
 
$25M but less than $50M $6,660 plus .00017 of excess over 

$25M 
 
$50M but less than $100M $10,910 plus .00019 of excess over 

$50M 
 
$100M but less than $500M $20,410 plus .000080 of excess over 

$100M 
 
$500M but less than $1,000M $52,410 plus .000072 of excess over 

$500M 



$1,000M but less than $2,000M $88,410 plus .000069 of excess over 
$1,000M 

 
$2,000M and over      $157,410  plus  .000062  of excess  over 
        $2,000M 
 
 (4) The commissioner is authorized to increase the fee schedule once each year as needed to 
match revenue with appropriations. An increase greater than 5% shall require prior approval of the 
commission. The commissioner shall notify the commission of any such adjustment at the first 
meeting of the commission following the determination of the fee schedule. 

(5) Waiver of operating fees.  The commissioner is authorized to waive the operating fee 
for an individual credit union when good cause exists.  The commissioner shall document the 
reason(s) for each waiver of operating fees and report such waiver to the commission at its next 
meeting. 

(6) Adjustment of an installment.  The commissioner in the exercise of discretion may, 
after review and consideration of anticipated and actual revenues and projected revenues adjust 
the amount of either installment due from credit unions. 

(7) Late Fee. Installments received after September 30 or March 30 of each year will be 
subject to a monthly 10% late fee (calculated on the balance due) unless waived by the 
commissioner for good cause. 
 (8) Credit union conversion. A credit union organized under the laws of the United States or 
of another State that converts to a credit union organized under the laws of this State shall remit to 
the department an annual operating fee within 30 days after the issuance of a charter by the 
commissioner. The schedule provided in paragraph (3) of this subsection shall serve as the basis for 
calculating the operating fee. All provisions set forth in paragraph (3) of this subsection shall apply 
to converting credit unions with the following exceptions: 
  (A) Should the effective date of the conversion fall on or after October 31, the base 
date shall be the calendar quarter end immediately preceding the issuance date of a charter by the 
commissioner. 
  (B) The amount of the operating fee calculated under this section will be prorated 
based upon the number of full months remaining until September 1. For example, should the 
effective date of the conversion be January 31, the converting credit union will remit seven-twelfths 
of the amount of the operating fee calculated using December 31 base date. 
  (C) Any fee received more than 30 days after the issuance of a charter will be 
subject to a monthly 10% late fee unless waived by the commissioner for good cause. 
 (9) Mergers/Consolidations. In the event a credit union in existence as of June 30 merges or 
consolidates with another credit union and the merger/consolidation is completed on or before 
August 31, the surviving credit union’s asset base, for purposes of calculating the operating fee 
prescribed in paragraph (3) of this subsection, will be increased by the amount of the merging credit 
union’s total assets as of the June 30 base date. 
(b) Supplemental examination fees. 
 (1) If the commissioner or deputy commissioner schedules a special examination in 
addition to the regular examination, the credit union is subject to a supplemental charge to cover 
the cost of time and expenses incurred in the examination. 
 (2) The credit union shall pay a supplemental fee of $100 for each hour of time expended 
on the examination.  The commissioner may waive the supplemental fee or reduce the fee, 
individually or collectively, as he deems appropriate.  Such waiver or reduction shall be in 



writing and signed by the commissioner.  The department shall fully explain the time and 
charges for each special examination to the president or designated official in charge of 
operations of a credit union. 
(c) Special assessment.  The commission may approve a special assessment to cover material 
expenditures, such as major facility repairs and improvements and other extraordinary expenses. 
(d) Foreign credit unions. 
 (1) Branches. Credit unions operating branch offices in Texas as authorized by §91.210 of 
this title (relating to Foreign Credit Unions) shall pay an annual operating fee of $1,000 per branch 
office. 

(2) Field of membership expansion.  A foreign credit union applying to expand its field of 
membership in Texas shall pay a fee of $1,000 $200.  This fee shall be paid at the time of filing to 
cover the cost of processing the application. In addition, the applicant shall pay any cost incurred 
by the department in connection with any hearing conducted. 

(3) Foreign credit union examination fees. 
  (A) If the commissioner schedules an examination of a foreign credit union, the 
credit union is subject to supplemental charges to cover the cost of time and expenses incurred in 
the examination.  
  (B) The foreign credit union shall pay a fee of $100 for each hour of time expended 
by each examiner on the examination.  The commissioner may waive the examination fee or reduce 
the fee as he deems appropriate. 
  (C) The foreign credit union shall also reimburse the department for actual travel 
expenses incurred in connection with the examination, including mileage, public transportation, 
food, and lodging in addition to the fee set forth in paragraph (2) of this subsection.  The 
commissioner may waive this charge at his discretion. 
(e) Contract Services.  The commissioner may charge, or otherwise cause to be paid by, a credit 
union, a foreign credit union or related entities the actual cost incurred by the department for 
legal fees, adjudication fees and an examination or a review of all or part of the operations or 
applications of a credit union, a foreign credit union or related entity, that is performed under a 
contract entered into between the department and third parties. This includes fees paid to the 
Texas Attorney General’s Office and State Office of Administrative Hearings. 
 





























DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

C. (2) Adoption of Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91,
Subchapter A, Section 91.101 (Definitions and Interpretations)

BACKGROUND: The Credit Union Commission (Commission) approved for 
publication amendments to 7 TAC §91.101 at the meeting on March 21, 2025, and 
they were published in the April 4, 2025, issue of the Texas Register (50 Tex. Reg. 
2293 and 50 Tex. Reg. 2296). 

Comments:  One comment was received in support of all the changes to this section. 
No comments were received in opposition to the amendments. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee 
recommend the Commission approve and adopt the proposed amendments to 7 Tex. 
Admin Code § 91.101 as proposed without changes.  

RECOMMENDED MOTION: : I move that the Committee recommend that the 
Commission approve and adopt take action to order adoption of amendments to Rule 
§ 91.101.



The Credit Union Commission (the Commission) adopts the amendments to Texas 
Administrative Code, Title 7, Chapter 91, Subchapter A, §91.101, concerning definitions and 
interpretations, with changes to the adopted text as published in the April 4, 2025, issue of the 
Texas Register. 
 
The amended rule amends definition of the term "Unifying Characteristics" and adds a definition 
for “Political Subdivision”.  The amendment renumbers subsequent definitions to accommodate 
the newly added definition. 
 
The Commission received one written comment in support of the proposed amendments to the 
rule from Gevon Calix with First Service Credit Union. 
 
The rule changes are adopted under Texas Finance Code, Section 15.402, which authorizes the 
Commission to adopt reasonable rules for administering Texas Finance Code, Title 2, Chapter 15 
and Title 3, Subtitle D. 
 
§91.101.  Definitions and Interpretations. 
 
(a) Words and terms used in this chapter that are defined in Finance Code §121.002, have the 
same meanings as defined in the Finance Code. The following words and terms, when used in 
this chapter, shall have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 
 (1) Act--the Texas Credit Union Act (Texas Finance Code, Subtitle D). 
 (2) Allowance for loan and lease losses (ALLL)--a general valuation allowance that 
has been established through charges against earnings to absorb losses on loans and lease 
financing receivables. An ALLL excludes the regular reserve and special reserves.  
 (3) Applicant--an individual or credit union that has submitted an application to the 
commissioner. 
 (4) Application--a written request filed by an applicant with the department seeking 
approval to engage in various credit union activities, transactions, and operations or to obtain 
other relief for which the commission is authorized by the act to issue a final decision or order 
subject to judicial review. 
 (5) Appraisal--a written statement independently and impartially prepared by a 
qualified appraiser setting forth an opinion as to the market value of a specifically described 
asset as of a specific date, supported by the presentation and analysis of relevant market 
information. 
 (6) Automated teller machine (ATM)--an automated, unstaffed credit union facility 
owned by or operated exclusively for the credit union at which deposits are received, cash 
dispensed, or money lent.  
 (7) Community of interest--a unifying factor among persons that by virtue of its 
existence, facilitates the successful organization of a new credit union or promotes economic 
viability of an existing credit union.  The types of community of interest currently recognized 
are: 
  (A) Occupational--based on an employment relationship that may be 
established by: 



   (i) employment (or a long-term) contractual relationship equivalent to 
employment) by a single employer, affiliated employers or employers under common ownership 
with at least a 10% ownership interest;  
   (ii) employment or attendance at a school; or 
   (iii) employment in the same trade, industry or profession (TIP) with a 
close nexus and narrow commonality of interest, which is geographically limited.  
  (B) Associational--based on groups consisting primarily of natural persons 
whose members participate in activities developing common loyalties, mutual benefits, or mutual 
interests.  In determining whether a group has an associational community of interest, the 
commissioner shall consider the totality of the circumstances, which include: 
   (i) whether the members pay dues;  
   (ii) whether the members participate in furtherance of the goals of the 
association; 
   (iii) whether the members have voting rights; 
   (iv) whether there is a membership list; 
   (v) whether the association sponsors activities; 
   (vi) what the association's membership eligibility requirements are; and 
   (vii) the frequency of meetings.  Associations formed primarily to 
qualify for credit union membership and associations based on client or customer relationships, 
do not have a sufficient associational community of interest. 
  (C) Geographic--based on a clearly defined and specific geographic area 
where persons have common interests and/or interact.  More than one credit union may share the 
same geographic community of interest.  There are currently four types of affinity on which a 
geographic community of interest can be based: persons, who: 
   (i) live in; 
   (ii) worship in; 
   (iii) attend school in; or 
   (iv) work in that community.  The geographic community of interest 
requirements are met if the area to be served is in a recognized single political subdivision, as 
defined in this rule. 
  (D) Other--The commissioner may authorize other types of community of 
interest, if the commissioner determines that either a credit union or foreign credit union has 
sufficiently demonstrated that a proposed factor creates an identifiable affinity among the 
persons within the proposed group.  Such a factor shall be well-defined, have a geographic 
definition, and may not circumvent any limitation or restriction imposed on one of the other 
enumerated types. 
 (8) A credit union service organization (CUSO)--an organization authorized by §91.801 
(relating to Investments in Credit Union Service Organizations).  A consolidated CUSO is one 
where control or ownership by a credit union requires consolidation of the credit union and 
CUSO financial statements to comply with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 
 (9) Day--whenever periods of time are specified in this title in days, calendar days are 
intended.  When the day, or the last day fixed by statute or under this title for taking any action 
falls on Saturday, Sunday, or a state holiday, the action may be taken on the next succeeding day 
which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or a state holiday. 
 (10) Department newsletter--the monthly publication that serves as an official notice of 
all applications, and by which procedures to protest applications are described. 



 (11) Field of membership (FOM)--refers to the totality of persons a credit union may 
accept as members. The FOM may consist of one group, several groups with a related 
community of interest, or several unrelated groups with each having its own community of 
interest. 
 (12) Finance Code or Texas Finance Code--the codification of the Texas statutes 
governing financial institutions, financial businesses, and related financial services, including the 
regulations and supervision of credit unions. 
 (13) Imminent danger of insolvency--a circumstance or condition in which a credit union 
is unable or lacks the means to meet its current obligations as they come due in the regular and 
ordinary course of business, even if the value of its assets exceeds its liabilities; or the credit 
union has a positive net worth ratio equal to two percent or less of its assets. 
 (14) Improved residential property--residential real estate containing on-site, offsite or 
other improvements sufficient to make the property ready for primarily residential construction, 
and real estate in the process of being improved by a building or buildings to be constructed or in 
the process of construction for primarily residential use. 
 (15) Interactive teller machine (ITM) -- a video-based interactive technology which 
allows members to conduct transactions and credit union services driven by a centrally based 
teller, in a real time video or audio interaction. 
 (16) Indirect financing--a program in which a credit union makes the credit decision in a 
transaction where the credit is extended by the vendor and assigned to the credit union or a loan 
transaction that generally involves substantial participation in and origination of the transaction 
by a vendor. 
 (17) Loan and extension of credit--a direct or indirect advance of funds to or on behalf of 
a member based on an obligation of the member to repay the funds or repayable from the 
application of the specific property pledged by or on behalf of the member.  The terminology 
also includes the purchase of a member's loan or other obligation, a lease financing transaction, a 
credit sale, a line of credit or loan commitment under which the credit union is contractually 
obligated to advance funds to or on behalf of a member, an advance of funds to honor a check or 
share draft drawn on the credit union by a member, or any other indebtedness not classified as an 
investment security. 
 (18) Loan-to-value ratio--the aggregate amount of all sums borrowed and secured by the 
collateral, including outstanding balances plus any unfunded commitment or line of credit from 
another lender that is senior to the credit union’s lien divided by the current value of the 
collateral. 
 (19) Manufactured home--a HUD-code manufactured home as defined by the Texas 
Manufactured Housing Standards Act.  The terminology may also include a mobile home, house 
trailer, or similar recreational vehicle if the unit will be used as the member’s residence and the 
loan is secured by a first lien on the unit, and the unit meets the requirements for the home 
mortgage interest deduction under the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. Section 163(a), 
(h)(2)(D)). 
 (20) Market Value--the most probable price which an asset should bring in a competitive 
and open market under an arm’s-length sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and 
knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in this 
definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of ownership from 
seller to buyer where: 
  (A) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 



  (B) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in their own 
best interests; 
  (C) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
  (D) Payment is made in cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 
arrangements comparable thereto; and 
  (E) The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold 
unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated 
with the sale. 
 (21) Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA)--a geographic area as defined by the director of 
the U.S. Office of Management and Budget.  
 (22) Mobile office--a branch office that does not have a single, permanent site, including 
a vehicle that travels to various public locations to enable members to conduct their credit union 
business. 
 (23) Office--includes any service facility or place of business established by a credit 
union at which deposits are received, checks or share drafts paid, or money lent.  This definition 
includes a credit union owned branch, a mobile branch, an office operated on a regularly 
scheduled weekly basis, a credit union owned ATM, or a credit union owned ITM or other 
electronic facility that meets, at a minimum, these requirements; however, it does not include the 
credit union's Internet website.  This definition also includes a shared branch or a shared branch 
network if either: 
  (A) the credit union has an ownership interest in the service facility either 
directly or through a CUSO or similar organization; or  
  (B) the service facility is local to the credit union and the credit union is an 
authorized participant in the service center. 
 (24) Overlap--the situation which exists when a group of persons is eligible for 
membership in two or more state, foreign, or federal credit unions doing business in this state. 
Notwithstanding this provision, no overlap exists if eligibility for credit union membership 
results solely from a family relationship. 
 (25) Pecuniary interest--the opportunity, directly or indirectly, to make money on or share 
in any profit or benefit derived from a transaction. 
 (26) Person--an individual, partnership, corporation, association, government, 
governmental subdivision or agency, business trust, estate, trust, or any other public or private 
entity. 
 (27) Political Subdivision--a county, municipality, special district, school district, junior 
college district, housing authority, or other political subdivision of this state or any other state. 
 (28) Principal office--the home office of a credit union. 
 (29) Protestant--a credit union that opposes or objects to the relief requested by an 
applicant. 
 (30) Real estate or real property--an identified parcel or tract of land. The term includes 
improvements, easements, rights of way, undivided or future interest and similar rights in a tract 
of land, but does not include mineral rights, timber rights, growing crops, water rights and 
similar interests severable from the land when the transaction does not involve the associated 
parcel or tract of land. 
 (31) Remote service facility--an automated, unstaffed credit union facility owned or 
operated by, or operated for, the credit union, such as an automated teller machine, cash 



dispensing machine, point-of-sale terminal, or other remote electronic facility, at which deposits 
are received, cash dispensed, or money lent. 
 (32) Reserves--allocations of retained earnings including regular and special reserves, 
except for any allowances for loan, lease or investment losses.  
 (33) Resident of this state--a person physically located in, living in or employed in the 
state of Texas. 
 (34) Respondent--a credit union or other person against whom a disciplinary proceeding 
is directed by the department.  
 (35) Secured credit--a loan made or extension of credit given upon an assignment of an 
interest in collateral pursuant to applicable state laws so as to make the enforcement or promise 
more certain than the mere personal obligation of the debtor or promisor.  Any assignment may 
include an interest in personal property or real property or a combination thereof. 
 (36) Shared service center--a facility which is connected electronically with two or more 
credit unions so as to permit the facility, through personnel at the facility and the electronic 
connection, to provide a credit union member at the facility the same credit union services that 
the credit union member could lawfully obtain at the principal office of the member's credit 
union. 
 (37) TAC--an acronym for the Texas Administrative Code, a compilation of all state 
agency rules in Texas. 
 (38) Title or 7 TAC--Title 7, Part VI of the Texas Administrative Code Banking and 
Securities, which contains all of the department's rules. 
 (39) Underserved area--a geographic area, which could be described as one or more 
contiguous metropolitan statistical areas (MSA) or one or more contiguous political subdivisions, 
including counties, cities, and towns, that satisfy any one of the following criteria: 
  (A) A majority of the residents earn less than 80 percent of the average for all 
wage earners as established by the U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics; 
  (B) The annual household income for a majority of the residents falls at or 
below 80 percent of the median household income for the State of Texas, or the nation, 
whichever is higher; or 
  (C) The commission makes a determination that the lack of available or 
adequate financial services has adversely affected economic development within the specified 
area. 
 (40) Uninsured membership share--funds paid into a credit union by a member that 
constitute uninsured capital under conditions established by the credit union and agreed to by the 
member including possible reduction under §122.105 of the act, risk of loss through operations, 
or other forfeiture.  Such funds shall be considered an interest in the capital of the credit union 
upon liquidation, merger, or conversion. 
 (41) Unsecured credit--a loan or extension of credit based solely upon the general credit 
financial standing of the borrower.  The term shall include loans or other extensions of credit 
supported by the signature of a co-maker, guarantor, or endorser.  
(b) The same rules of construction that apply to interpretation of Texas statutes and codes, 
the definitions in the Act and in Government Code §2001.003, and the definitions in subsection 
(a) of this section govern the interpretation of this title.  If any section of this title is found to 
conflict with an applicable and controlling provision of other state or federal law, the section 
involved shall be void to the extent of the conflict without affecting the validity of the rest of this 
title. 











MANDATORY RULE REVIEW 
 
 
C. (3) Adoption of the Rule Review of 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter 

 A (General Provisions), Subchapter B (Organization Procedures),   
 Subchapter J (Changes in Corporate Status), and Subchapter L 

(Submission of Comments by Interested Parties), and Readoption of Rules 
 
 
BACKGROUND: Section 2001.039, Government Code, requires that a state 
agency review and consider for readoption each rule not later than the fourth 
anniversary of the date on which the rule took effect and every four years after that 
date. As provided in the noted section, the reviews must include, at a minimum, an 
assessment by the agency as to whether the reason for adopting the rule continues to 
exist. At its March 22, 2024, meeting, the Commission approved a plan which 
establishes a date for the required review for each of the affected rules. In accordance 
with that plan, staff has reviewed 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A, (General 
Provisions), Subchapter B (Organization Procedures), Subchapter J (Changes in 
Corporate Status), and Subchapter L (Submission of Comments by Interested 
Parties), Amendments to the noted chapters are being separately presented for 
proposal. 
 
Notice of the review and a request for comments on the rules in this chapter was 
published in the June 20, 2025, issue of the Texas Register. No comments were 
received regarding the review. The Department believes that the reasons for adopting 
the noted rules continue to exist. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee 
recommend to the Commission to adopt the rule review as the reasons for these rules 
continue to exist. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move that the Committee recommend that the 
Commission find that the reasons for adopting 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, 
Subchapter A (General Provisions), Subchapter B (Organization Procedures), 
Subchapter J (Changes in Corporate Status), and Subchapter L (Submission of 
Comments by Interested Parties), and Readoption of Rules continue to exist and that 
Commission readopt the rules in this chapter. 
 



The Texas Credit Union Commission (Commission) has completed its review of 7 TAC, Part 6, 
Chapter 91, Subchapter A (General Provisions), Subchapter B (Organization Procedures), 
Subchapter J (Changes in Corporate Status), and Subchapter L (Submission of Comments by 
Interested Parties), and Readoption of Rules 
 
These rules were reviewed as a result of the Department’s quadrennial rule review under Texas 
Government Code Section 2001.039 and the Department’s rule review plan approved at the 
March 22, 2024, Commission meeting. 
 
Notice of the review of 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A (General Provisions), 
Subchapter B (Organization Procedures), Subchapter J (Changes in Corporate Status), and 
Subchapter L (Submission of Comments by Interested Parties) were published on June 20, 2025, 
issue of the Texas Register (50 Tex. Reg. 3649).  The Department received no comments on the 
notice of intention to review. 
 
After reviewing these rules, the Commission finds that the reasons for initially adopting these 
rules continue to exist, and readopts Chapter 91, Subchapters A, B, J, & L, §§91.101, 91.103, 
91.104, 91.105, 91.110, 91.115, 91.120, 91.125, 91.201 to 91.214, 91.1003 to 91.1010 and 
91.3001 to 91.3002 , in their entirety in accordance with the requirements of Texas Government 
Code, Section 2001.039.  However, the Commission has determined certain sections should be 
amended and will propose changes in a separate section of the Texas Register.  This concludes 
the review of 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapters A, B, J, and L. 
 
The Department hereby certifies that the proposal has been reviewed by legal counsel and found 
to be a valid exercise of the agency’s legal authority. 
 



































































PROPOSED AMENDMENTS 
 

ACCURACY OF ADVERTISING 
 
 

C. (4) Recommendation for Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter       
91, Subchapter A, Section 91.125 (General Rules) Concerning Accuracy 
of Advertising. 

 
 
BACKGROUND: Amendments are proposed to the rule to clarify the rule applies to 
announcements or press releases. The original rule was adopted in November of 2005, 
by request of the state legislature. The additional languages modernizes the rule to 
clarify that  dissemination of information under means such as social media 
announcements and press releases is covered under this rule.  Because of the velocity 
of these types of communications, the time to respond when a notice the advertising 
is deemed misleading is proposed to be reduced from ten to five business days and it 
provides for the option of notifying that the communication at issue has been removed 
as an adequate response. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee 
recommend to the Commission to approve the proposed rule changes for publication 
and comment. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move that the Committee recommend that the 
Commission approve for publication and comment on the Proposed Amendments to 
7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter A, Section 91.125  concerning Accuracy of 
Advertising. 
 
 
  



The Credit Union Commission proposes amendments to §91.125, concerning accuracy of 
advertising. The proposed amendments clarify that advertising includes any announcements or 
press releases.  They provide for five business days to respond or remove the advertisement and 
continue to allow the Commissioner to prohibit the use of advertising, postings or press releases 
that are false, deceptive or misleading. 
 
The new rule responds to increased use of online announcements or social media postings as 
well as self-issued press releases to promote a credit union or its products. It assures these types 
of communications are held to the same standards for accuracy as a traditional advertisement and 
the public can be protected from deceptive or misleading advertising. 
 
FISCAL NOTE ON STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS. Karen Miller, General Counsel, 
has determined that for the first five-year period the proposed amendments are in effect, there are 
no reasonably foreseeable implications relating to cost or revenues of state or local governments 
under Government Code §2001.024(a)(4), as a result of enforcing or administering these 
amendments, as proposed. 

PUBLIC BENEFIT/COST NOTE. Ms. Miller has determined, under Government Code 
§2001.024(a)(5), that for the first five-year period the amended rules are in effect, the public 
benefit of rule clarity will provide improved guidance to the industry. She further has determined 
there will be no probable economic cost to the credit union system or to persons required to 
comply with the rule. 

IMPACT ON LOCAL EMPLOYMENT OR ECONOMY. There is no reasonably forecasted 
effect on local economy for the first five years that the proposed amendments are in effect. 
Therefore, no economic impact statement, local employment impact statement, nor regulatory 
flexibility analysis is required under Texas Government Code §§2001.022 or 2001.024(a)(6). 

COST TO REGULATED PERSONS (COST-IN/COST-OUT). This rule proposal is not subject 
to Texas Government Code §2001.0045, concerning increasing costs to regulated persons, 
because this agency is a Self-Directed Semi-Independent (SDSI) agency under Finance Code 
Chapter 16 and is exempt from that cost provision. 

ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT AND REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ANALYSIS FOR 
SMALL BUSINESSES, MICROBUSINESSES, AND RURAL COMMUNITIES. Ms. Miller 
has also determined that for each year of the first five years the proposed amendment is in effect, 
there will be no reasonably forecasted adverse economic effect on small businesses, micro-
businesses, or rural communities as a result of implementing these amendments, and, therefore, 
no regulatory flexibility analysis, as specified in Texas Government Code §2006.002 is required. 

GOVERNMENT GROWTH IMPACT STATEMENT. In compliance with Texas Government 
Code §2001.0221, the Board has prepared a government growth impact statement. 

Unless indicated below, for each year of the first five years that the rule will be in effect, the rule 
will not: 

--create or eliminate a government program; 
--require the creation of new employee positions or the elimination of existing employee  
   positions; 



--require an increase or decrease in future legislative appropriations to the agency; 
--lead to an increase or decrease in the fees paid to the department; 
--create new regulations; 
--expand, limit or repeal existing regulations; 
--increase or decrease the number of individuals subject to the rule's applicability; 
--positively or adversely affect this state's economy. 
 
TAKINGS IMPACT ASSESSMENT. No private real property interests are affected by this 
proposal, and the proposal does not restrict or limit an owner's right to his or her property that 
would otherwise exist in the absence of government action. Therefore, the rule does not 
constitute a taking under Texas Government Code §2007.043. 

ENVIRONMENTAL RULE ANALYSIS. The proposed rule is not a "major environmental rule" 
as defined by Government Code, §2001.0225. The proposed rule is not specifically intended to 
protect the environment or to reduce risks to human health from environmental exposure. 
Therefore, a regulatory environmental analysis is not required. 

REQUEST FOR PUBLIC COMMENT. Written comments on the proposed amendments may be 
submitted in writing to Karen Miller, General Counsel, Credit Union Department, 914 East 
Anderson Lane, Austin, Texas 78752-1699 or by email to CUDMail@cud.texas.gov. To be 
considered, a written comment must be received on or before 5:00 p.m. on the 31st day after the 
date the proposal is published in the Texas Register. 

STATUTORY AUTHORITY. The amendments are proposed pursuant to Texas Finance Code, Section 
15.402, which authorizes the Commission to adopt reasonable rules for administering Texas Finance 
Code, Title 2, Chapter 15 and Title 3, Subtitle D. Authority to adopt these amendments is found also in 
Texas Finance Code Sections 122.1531 and 122.156. 

STATUTORY SECTIONS AFFECTED. The statutory provisions affected by the proposed amendments 
are contained in Texas Finance Code Chapter 15 and Title 3, Subtitle D specifically Finance Code, 
Sections 122.005, 122.151 - 122.156, and 124.003. 
 
§91.125.  Accuracy of Advertising. 
 
(a) As used in this rule, an advertisement is any informational communication, including 
oral, written, electronic, broadcast or any other type of communication, made to members, 
prospective members, or to the public at large in any manner designed to attract attention to the 
business of a credit union. 
(b) No credit union shall disseminate or cause the dissemination of any advertisement, 
announcement, or press release that is in any way intentionally or negligently false, deceptive, 
or misleading.  An advertisement shall be deemed by the Commissioner to be intentionally or 
negligently false, deceptive, or misleading if it: 
 (1) contains materially false claims or misrepresentations of material facts; 
 (2) contains materially implied false claims or implied misrepresentations of material 
fact; 
 (3) omits material facts; 
 (4) makes a representation likely to create an unjustified expectation about credit 
union products or services; 



 (5) states that the credit union’s services are superior to or of a higher quality than 
that of another financial institution unless the credit union can factually substantiate the 
statement; 
 (6) states that a service is free when it is not, or contains intentionally untruthful or 
deceptive claims regarding costs and fees; and 
 (7) fails to disclose that membership is required to participate in or enjoy the 
advantage of the product or service (does not apply to advertisement to current members). 
(c) Prior to placing an advertisement, a credit union must possess credible information 
which, when produced, substantiates the truthfulness of any assertion, representation or omission 
of material fact set forth in the advertisement. 
(d) If the Commissioner notifies a credit union that an advertisement, announcement, or 
press release is deemed to be false, deceptive or misleading, the credit union will have [ten] five 
(5) business days following the credit union’s receipt of the notification to provide the 
Commissioner with information substantiating the truthfulness of the advertisement or notify 
the department of removal of the advertisement, announcement or press release.  If the 
[credit union does not provide this information or the] Commissioner, after receipt of the 
information, still deems the advertisement, announcement, or press release to be false, 
deceptive or misleading, the Commissioner may issue a cease and desist order to the credit union 
to stop the use of the advertisement. 
 



MERGERS/CONSOLIDATIONS 
 
 

C. (5) Recommendation for Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter   
      91, Subchapter J, Section 91.1003 (Mergers/Consolidations) 

 
 
BACKGROUND: Amendment are proposed to provide more detail and clarity to the 
guidance when two credit unions decide to merge and enable the department to assure 
that members of the credit unions that are merging have sufficient and transparent 
information when casting their member vote..  
 
Credit Unions are undergoing significant consolidation in numbers, 163 credit unions 
with $14 billion in federally insured assets were merged into other credit unions in the 
2024 calendar year.  The average assets of the surviving or continuing credit unions 
is $1.2 billion, and the average size of the merging or failed credit unions was $90 
million.  Of those, only 24 were merged due to financial or management reasons and 
138 or 85% were voluntary, with 119 indicating the reason was simply “expanded 
services”.  There has been a recent trend to offer financial incentives to credit union 
officials as part of the merger.  This has resulted with NCUA rules that require 
publication to the public of the member notice on their website and requirements for 
disclosure of financial arrangements from a merger in the member ballot.   
 
A recent merger  of a credit union with just under $150 million in assets, had 
approximately $6 million in executive upon merger completion. A copy of the public 
notice in this merger is included in the committee’s packet. We also include the public 
comments to this merger.  
 
Credit Unions are member owned, and the capital of the institution does not belong to 
the officials or executives but to its members. Members should presume that both the 
regulator and their board is protecting their investment. At a minimum, credit union 
members deserve to be fully informed when they vote to dissolve their credit union. 
 
The notice to members must be reviewed and approved by the Department and 
NCUA.  It must contain a summary of the plan for merger. In order for the department 
to assure the member notice provides transparency,  revisions to the rules are 
necessary to provide the department with enough information to review the plan, 
financial effects of a merger and assure that there is appropriate disclosure to the 
members. More detail in the rule will also facilitate submission of complete 
applications which do not need to be returned for additional information. Complete 
disclosure of information is important, particularly as to detailing all merger related 



financial arrangements, and providing the reasons for a merging with a specific 
surviving or continuing credit union. 
 
The proposed amendment defines merger related financial arrangement to assure 
payments to officials or executives cannot be concealed through the use of  third 
parties. The amendments will assure all merger related payments are disclosed to the 
regulator, insurer and credit union members. 
 
Revisions to the rule make clear the merger plan: 

1. must disclose all payments or financial awards payable to any parties as a result 
of the merger and include honorariums or any rewards from related entities or 
third parties from the merger; 

2. must detail significant expenditures, such as contractual termination expense, 
expected as a result of the merger which will impact capital; 

3. documents the merging Credit Union’s Board’s efforts to fulfill their statutory 
and fiduciary duties when deciding to merge and selecting their merger partner; 
and 

4. contains detailed support for the calculation methodology for any financial 
rewards provided to any party; and   

 
Other amendments to the rule: 

1. Change the definition of a substantial amount from $1,000 to $10,000. 
2. Clarify: 

a. that an objectively calculated dividend, interest rebate or other similar 
payment to the credit union members is not a prohibited merger 
inducement; 

b. the prohibition on member inducements only relates to members of one 
credit union being solicited to merge by a different entity (not their own 
board);  

c. an increase in benefits or salary to at-will employees equal to those 
offered to a surviving credit union’s existing employees is not a merger 
related financial arrangement; 

d. the Commissioner has the power to request additional information to 
review the application;  

e. the financial condition of the credit union anticipated after the merger, 
considering financial rewards and significant contract expenditures, will 
be considered in the final approval, and  

f. that misleading advertisements related to the merger will be subject to 
accuracy of advertising rules and possible cease-and-desist order as well 
as may be a basis for denial of the application after notice under this 
rule. 
 



3. Require financial awards conditioned on the merger (defined as merger related
financial arrangements) to be detailed on a separate additional page to be
included with the members’ ballot and meeting notice, this assures the
disclosure is not obscured by other information, much of it promotional for the
merger, when the member is making their vote.

RECOMMENDED ACTION: The Department requests that the Committee 
recommend to the Commission to approve for publication and comment on the 
Proposed Amendments to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter J, Section 91.1003 
concerning Mergers/Consolidation. 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move that the Committee recommend that the 
Commission  approve for publication and comment on the Proposed Amendments 
to 7 TAC, Part 6, Chapter 91, Subchapter J, Section 91.1003 concerning 
Mergers/Consolidation. 



The Credit Union Commission (the Commission) proposes amendments to 7 TAC §91.1003, 
relating to Mergers and Consolidations. The proposed amendments add a definition of merger 
related financial arrangements and detail disclosures and board due diligence documentation that 
must be included in any plan of merger. 
 
The Commission proposes the following amendment to §91.1003. The language is presented to 
assure boards of directors that decide to merge document their due diligence on behalf of their 
members and merger plans provide full transparency with regards to any entities that will receive 
financial benefits because of the merger and the plan contemplates all costs associated with the 
merger. 
 
Credit Unions are member owned, and the capital of the institution does not belong to its 
officials or executives but to its members.  Members should be able to rely on both the regulator 
and their board to protect their investment.  At a minimum, credit union members deserve to be 
fully and truthfully informed when they vote to dissolve their credit union and transfer their 
accounts and capital to another financial institution. Therefore, the rule not only provides for 
additional transparency with the regulator and members but also provides that if there is 
deceptive advertising about the merger, it may be the basis for a denial of the merger application. 
 
FISCAL NOTE ON STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS. Karen Miller, General Counsel, 
has determined that for the first five-year period the proposed amendments are in effect, there are 
no reasonably foreseeable implications relating to cost or revenues of state or local governments 
under Government Code §2001.024(a)(4), as a result of enforcing or administering these 
amendments, as proposed. 
 
PUBLIC BENEFIT/COST NOTE. Ms. Miller has determined, under Government Code 
§2001.024(a)(5), that for the first five-year period the amended rules are in effect, the public 
benefit of rule clarity will provide improved guidance to the industry. He further has determined 
there will be no probable economic cost to the credit union system or to persons required to 
comply with the rule. 
 
IMPACT ON LOCAL EMPLOYMENT OR ECONOMY. There is no reasonably forecasted 
effect on local economy for the first five years that the proposed amendments are in effect. 
Therefore, no economic impact statement, local employment impact statement, nor regulatory 
flexibility analysis is required under Texas Government Code §§2001.022 or 2001.024(a)(6). 
 
COST TO REGULATED PERSONS (COST-IN/COST-OUT). This rule proposal is not subject 
to Texas Government Code §2001.0045, concerning increasing costs to regulated persons, 
because this agency is a Self-Directed Semi-Independent (SDSI) agency under Finance Code 
Chapter 16 and is exempt from that cost provision. 
 
ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT AND REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ANALYSIS FOR 
SMALL BUSINESSES, MICROBUSINESSES, AND RURAL COMMUNITIES. Mr. Kolhoff 
has also determined that for each year of the first five years the proposed amendment is in effect, 
there will be no reasonably forecasted adverse economic effect on small businesses, micro-



businesses, or rural communities as a result of implementing these amendments, and, therefore, 
no regulatory flexibility analysis, as specified in Texas Government Code §2006.002 is required. 
 
GOVERNMENT GROWTH IMPACT STATEMENT. In compliance with Texas Government 
Code §2001.0221, the Board has prepared a government growth impact statement. 
Unless indicated below, for each year of the first five years that the rule will be in effect, the rule 
will not: 
 
--create or eliminate a government program; 
--require the creation of new employee positions or the elimination of existing employee 
  positions; 
--require an increase or decrease in future legislative appropriations to the agency; 
--lead to an increase or decrease in the fees paid to the department; 
--create new regulations; 
--expand, limit or repeal existing regulations; 
--increase or decrease the number of individuals subject to the rule's applicability; 
--positively or adversely affect this state's economy. 
 
TAKINGS IMPACT ASSESSMENT. No private real property interests are affected by this 
proposal, and the proposal does not restrict or limit an owner's right to his or her property that 
would otherwise exist in the absence of government action. Therefore, the rule does not 
constitute a taking under Texas Government Code §2007.043. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL RULE ANALYSIS. The proposed rule is not a "major environmental rule" 
as defined by Government Code, §2001.0225. The proposed rule is not specifically intended to 
protect the environment or to reduce risks to human health from environmental exposure. 
Therefore, a regulatory environmental analysis is not required. 
 
REQUEST FOR PUBLIC COMMENT. Written comments on the proposed amendments may be 
submitted in writing to Karen Miller, General Counsel, Credit Union Department, 914 East 
Anderson Lane, Austin, Texas 78752-1699 or by email to CUDMail@cud.texas.gov. To be 
considered, a written comment must be received on or before 5:00 p.m. on the 31st day after the 
date the proposal is published in the Texas Register. 
 
STATUTORY AUTHORITY. The amendments are proposed pursuant to Texas Finance Code, 
Section 15.402, which authorizes the Commission to adopt reasonable rules for administering 
Texas Finance Code, Title 2, Chapter 15 and Title 3, Subtitle D. Authority to adopt these 
amendments is found also in Texas Finance Code Sections 122.1531 and 122.156. 
 
STATUTORY SECTIONS AFFECTED. The statutory provisions affected by the proposed 
amendments are contained in Texas Finance Code Chapter 15 and Title 3, Subtitle D specifically 
Finance Code, Sections 122.005, 122.151 - 122.156, and 124.003. 
  



Subchapter J.  Changes in Corporate Status 
 
§91.1003.  Mergers/Consolidations. 
 
(a)  Definitions.  The following words and terms, when used in this section, shall have the 
following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 
 (1)  Acquirer credit union - The credit union that will continue in operation after the 
merger/consolidation. 
 (2)  Acquiree credit union - The credit union that will cease to exist as an operating credit 
union at the time of the merger/consolidation. 
 (3)  Merger inducement – A promise by a credit union to pay to the members of another 
credit union a sum of money or other [material] substantial benefit upon the successful 
completion of a merger of the two credit unions. This does not include a member dividend or 
interest rebate calculated under objective criteria and approved by the credit unions board 
of directors. 

(4)  Merger-related financial arrangement -- a substantial financial benefit received 
or to be received by any individual or entity, including any board or committee member or 
senior employee of Acquiree, conditioned upon a successful merger: 

        (A) paid or payable during the period beginning 24 months before the date the 
boards of directors of both credit unions approve the merger plan or paid during the 
merger or to be paid in the 24 month period after the merger; 

         (B) representing an addition or increase in direct or indirect compensation, 
such as salary, bonuses, leave, deferred compensation, early payout of retirement benefits, 
severance packages, retainers, service agreements, vesting of rights, non-compete 
agreements, insurance policy; or other contractual rights; or 

         (C) for honorarium(s), brokers fees, finders’ fees or other financial rewards, 
before or after the merger.  

         (D) this term does not include benefits available to employees at will of the 
acquiree credit union on identical terms and conditions to acquirer’s employees at will, 
should employment at will be continued. 
 [(4)] (5) Substantial – An amount that is large in size, value, or importance.  For purposes 
of this section, an amount is substantial if it exceeds [$1,000.00] $10,000.00 in total. 
(b)  Two or more credit unions organized under the laws of this state, another state, or the United 
States, may merge/consolidate, in whole or in part, with each other, or into a newly incorporated 
credit union to the extent permitted by applicable law, subject to the requirements of this rule.  A 
credit union may not offer a merger inducement directly to another credit union’s members as a 
means of promoting a merger of the two credit unions. 
(c)  Notice of Intent to Merge/Consolidate. 

(1) The credit unions shall notify the commissioner in writing of their intent to 
merge/consolidate within ten days after the credit unions’ boards of directors formally agree in 
principle to merge/consolidate. 
 (2) The Notice of Intent shall include a general description of any known merger 
related financial arrangements and any core processing contract termination of either credit 
union. 



(d)  Plan for Merger/Consolidation.  Upon approval of a proposition for merger/consolidation by the 
boards of directors, the credit unions must prepare a plan for the proposed merger/consolidation.  
The plan shall include: 
 (1) The terms and conditions of the merger/consolidation including a detailed description 
of any [substantial remuneration, such as bonuses, deferred compensation, early payout of 
retirement benefits, severance packages, retainers, services agreements, or other 
substantial financial rewards or benefits that any board member or senior management 
employee of the acquiree credit union may receive in connection with the 
merger/consolidation] and all merger related financial arrangements and proposed or 
executed contracts related to the merger; 
 (2) A statement that the boards of directors and officers have satisfied their 
fiduciary duties to the credit unions members when making a decision to merge, they 
reviewed their duties as outlined in the Texas Credit Union Act and Rules for Credit 
Unions. (Texas Finance Code Section 122.061; Section 91.501(e) (2) and (3) of the Rules for 
Credit Unions and the Acquirer or Acquiree’s bylaws). 
 (3) A short history of the background of merger discussions and deliberations with 
copies of any meeting minutes from beginning of negotiations through the plan and/ or 
merger resolution. 
 (4) For the Acquiree: 
                  (A) general reason(s) Acquiree believes that merging, as the party ceasing to 
exist, is in the best interest of its members; 
                  (B) other potential Acquirers that were evaluated by Acquiree,  
                  (C) the Acquiree’s criteria for selection of an ideal merger partner;  
                  (D) if only one Acquirer was evaluated, a statement supporting that 
consideration of a sole candidate is in the best interest of Acquiree’s membership. 

(5) Support for the calculation of any merger related financial arrangements. 
 (6) [(2)] The current financial reports of each credit union; 
 (7) [(3)] The combined financial reports of the two or more credit unions; 
 (8) [(4)] An analysis of the adequacy of the combined Allowance for Loan and Lease 
Losses account; 
 (9) [(5)] An explanation of any proposed adjustments to the members’ shares, or 
provisions for reserves, dividends, or undivided profits; 
 (10) [(6)] A summary of the products and services proposed to be available to the 
members of the acquirer credit union, with an explanation of any changes from the current 
products and services provided to the members; 
 (11) [(7)] A summary of the advantages and disadvantages of the merger/consolidation; 
 (12) [(8)] the projected location of the main office and any branch location(s) after the 
merger/consolidation and whether any existing office locations will be permanently closed; and 
 (13) [(9)] Any other items deemed critical to the merger/consolidation agreement by the 
boards of directors. 
 (14) If the Commissioner determines the merger to be an emergency, any specific plan 
requirements may be waived in order to assure uninterrupted service to members. 
(e)  Submission of an Application to Merge/Consolidate to Department. 
 (1) An application for approval of the merger/consolidation will be complete when the 
following information is submitted to the commissioner: 
  (A) the merger/consolidation plan, as described in this rule; 



  (B) a copy of the corporate resolution of each board of directors approving the 
merger/consolidation plan; 
  (C) the proposed Notice of Special Meeting of the members;  
  (D) a copy of the ballot form to be sent to the members; 
  (E) the current delinquent loan summaries for each credit union; 
  (F) a statement as to whether the transaction is subject to the Hart-Scott Rodino 
Act premerger notification filing requirements; [and] 
  (G) receipt of any additional information requested by the Commissioner; 
and 
  (H) [(G)] a request for a waiver of the requirement that the plan be approved by 
the members of any of the affected credit unions, in the event the board(s) seek such a waiver, 
together with a statement of the reason(s) for the waiver(s). 
 (2) If the acquirer credit union is organized under the laws of another state or of the 
United States, the commissioner may accept an application to merge or consolidate that is 
prescribed by the state or federal supervisory authority of the acquirer credit union, provided that 
the commissioner may require additional information to determine whether to deny or approve 
the merger/consolidation.  The application will be deemed complete upon receipt of all 
information requested by the commissioner. 
 (3) Notice of the proposed merger must be published in the Texas Register and 
Department Newsletter as prescribed in §91.104 (relating to Public Notice and Comment on 
Certain Applications). 
(f)  Commissioner Action on the Application. 
 (1) The commissioner may grant preliminary approval of an application for 
merger/consolidation conditioned upon specific requirements being met, but final approval shall 
not be granted unless such conditions have been met within the time specified in the preliminary 
approval. 
 (2) The commissioner shall deny an application for merger/consolidation if the 
commissioner finds any of the following: 
  (A) the financial condition or operations of the acquirer credit union before or 
projected after the merger/consolidation is such that it will likely jeopardize the financial 
stability of the merging credit union or prejudice the financial interests of the members, 
beneficiaries or creditors of either credit union; 
  (B) the plan includes a change in the products or services available to members of 
the acquiree credit union that substantially harms the financial interests of the members, 
beneficiaries or creditors of the acquiree credit union; 
  (C) the merger/consolidation would probably substantially lessen the ability of the 
acquirer credit union to meet the reasonable needs and convenience of members to be served; 
  (D) the credit unions do not furnish to the commissioner all information requested 
by the commissioner which is material to the application; 
  (E) the credit unions fail to obtain any approval required from a federal or state 
supervisory authority; [or] 
  (F) the application or proposed notice to members is false, deceptive or 
misleading, after the ability to cure provisions as defined in §91.125(b) expire; or 
  (G) [(F)] the merger/consolidation would be contrary to law. 
 (3)  For applications to merge/consolidate in which the products and services of the acquirer 
credit union after merger/consolidation are proposed to be substantially the same as those of the 



acquiree and acquirer credit unions, the commissioner will presume that the merger/consolidation 
will not significantly change or affect the availability and adequacy of financial services in the local 
community. 
(g)  Procedures for Approval of Merger/Consolidation Plan by the Members of Each Credit 
Union. 
 (1) The credit unions have the option of allowing their members to vote on the plan in 
person at a meeting of the members, by mail ballot, or both.  With prior approval of the 
commissioner, a credit union may accept member votes by an alternative method that is reasonably 
calculated to ensure each member has an opportunity to vote. 
 (2) Members shall be given advance notice of the meeting in accordance with the credit 
union’s bylaws. The notice of the meeting shall: 
  (A) specify the purpose of the meeting and state the date, time, and place of the 
special meeting; 
  (B) state the reasons for the proposed merger/consolidation; 
  (C) contain a summary of the merger plan and state that any interested person 
may obtain more detailed information about the merger from the credit union at its principal 
place of business, or by any method approved in advance by the commissioner; 
  (D) provide the name and location of the acquirer credit union; 
  (E) specify the methods permitted for casting votes; [and] 
  (F) if applicable, be accompanied by a mail ballot and [.] 
  (G) merger related financial arrangements must be detailed on a separate 
page enclosed with the meeting notice, ballot and plan summary. 
(h)  Completion of Merger/Consolidation. 
 (1) Upon approval of the merger/consolidation plan by the membership, if applicable, the 
Certificate of Merger/Consolidation shall be completed, signed and submitted to the 
commissioner for final authority to combine the records.  Necessary amendments to the acquirer 
credit union’s articles of incorporation or bylaws shall also be submitted at this time. 
 (2) Upon receipt of the commissioner’s written authorization, the records of the credit 
unions shall be combined as of the effective date of the merger/consolidation.  The board of the 
directors of the acquirer credit union shall certify the completion of the merger/consolidation to 
the commissioner within 30 days after the effective date of the merger/consolidation. 
 (3) Upon receipt by the commissioner of the completion of the merger/consolidation 
certification, any article of incorporation or bylaw amendments will be approved and the charter 
of the acquiree credit union will be canceled. 
 



FUTURE COMMITTEE MEETING DATES 
 
 
BACKGROUND: The committee meets on an “as needed” or “subject to the call 
of the chair” schedule. If a meeting is necessary, it would normally be held the day 
before a regularly scheduled commission meeting. 
 
Next Committee Meeting: The next regular meeting of the Committee will be 
tentatively scheduled during the July 17, 2025 meeting. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 


	RULES COMMITTEE MEETING
	EMERGENCY RULES
	PROCEDURES FOR REQUIRED RULE REVIEW

	Rules Committee 03-20-2025 MINUTES for July 2025 pckt.pdf
	MARCH 20, 2025

	Agenda COMM-RULES July  2025 FINAL POSTED IN TX REG.pdf
	An electronic copy of the agenda is now available at www.cud.texas.gov under Credit Union Commission, Commission Meetings, along with a copy of the meeting materials. A recording of the meeting will be available after July 17, 2025.  To obtain a recor...

	Chapter 91 - Series 1000.pdf
	Subchapter J.  Changes in Corporate Status
	§91.1003.  Mergers/Consolidations.

	Adoption to 97113 (07-2025) with Rule.pdf
	§97.113. Fees and Charges.

	Proposed 91.1003 (07-2025) with Rule.pdf
	Subchapter J.  Changes in Corporate Status
	§91.1003.  Mergers/Consolidations.

	Adoption 91.101 (07-2025) with Preamble.pdf
	§91.101.  Definitions and Interpretations.

	Agenda COMM-RULES July  2025 FINAL POSTED IN TX REG with page numbers.pdf
	An electronic copy of the agenda is now available at www.cud.texas.gov under Credit Union Commission, Commission Meetings, along with a copy of the meeting materials. A recording of the meeting will be available after July 17, 2025.  To obtain a recor...




